In the early 1890s the laboratory of Thomas Edison invented two complementary machines, the Kinetoscope and the vertical-feed kinetograph. The first was a coin-operated device for viewing films, and the second was a motion picture camera to make the films for it. Only one kinetograph was constructed. Both machines were made possible by a recent photographic innovation intended for use in still cameras, flexible roll film.

The Kinetoscope showed a film to only one person, who looked down at the film through a cast iron eye-piece on top of a wooden cabinet. The image, lit from beneath, was magnified two and a half times by a simple lens.

William K. L. Dickson, an Edison employee, led the technical work on the new machines, as he had led the earlier motion picture experiments at the Edison laboratory. With little doubt it was Dickson who decided what the dimensions of the film for the new machines should be.

Roll film was manufactured in widths up to 31/2". Dickson determined that film for the Kinetoscope could be substantially narrower and still register images large enough to provide acceptable quality. He made the image 1" wide, and set its height at 3/4".

These dimensions were adopted virtually unchanged as the standard of the silent era, which was to last nearly forty years. The proportions they express have persisted to the present day. Dickson had to perforate the film himself, so he was free to do as he liked. He provided margins for sprocket holes on both sides of the frame and located four perforations in either edge, an arrangement that is still standard. The width of the film was 13/8", almost exactly 35 millimeters.

The first Kinetoscope parlor opened in New York in April 1894. The new entertainment machine was an immediate popular success. By year’s end Kinetoscopes were installed in cities large and small throughout North America. The Kinetoscope was the first machine to show films in the modern sense.

The kinetograph, the only camera capable of making films for the Kinetoscope, remained at Edison’s laboratory under his control. Edison and his associates monopolized the supply of films, for which there was great demand, and charged accordingly.

The Kinetoscope reached Europe in the fall of 1894. The brothers Auguste and Louis Lumière, manufacturers of photographic dry plates, were struck by the popular appeal of the Kinetoscope. They saw a business opportunity and set about constructing a camera that would enable them to compete with the Edison group as suppliers of films.

In the course of their efforts the Lumières came to understand that films could also be presented by means of projection. They abandoned their original ambition and within a few months had invented the Cinématographe, a machine that could both take films and project them.

Although the Lumières broke away from the Kinetoscope, they retained the width of its film, rounding it to 35 millimeters. In December 1895 in Paris the Lumières projected their films before an audience of the public for the first time.

At the same time, inventors in England were stimulated first to devise cameras to make films for the Kinetoscope, and then to construct projecting machines. Their initial purpose committed them not only to Dickson’s gauge, but to every other detail of his format as well.

The width of 35 millimeters was established at the beginning of film, and it was adopted by the motion picture industry in America and abroad. As other gauges made their appearance, 35mm also came to be known as standard gauge.

